IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 92,254

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 15 1998

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CLERK SUPPLEME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

ν.

WILLIAM THOMPSON,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 238538

RONALD NAPOLITANO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 175130

2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged by information 95-2563 with the offenses of Escape (count 1); Obstructing or Opposing an Officer with Violence (count 2); No valid Driver's License (count 3); and Alteration of License Plates (count 4). (R 11-12). All of the offenses occurred on February 22, 1995. (R 11-22).

The case was called for status review on April 20, 1995 (R 2). The prosecutor immediately advised the trial court:

> Your Honor, at this time the State is going to file its notice of its intent to treat this defendant as a habitual felony offender, serving a copy of that notice on the defendant and on the clerk.

> I don't have one for Ms. Swanick. She can copy her client's.

(R 46)

Defense Counsel (Ms. Swanick) then advised the court:

Judge, my client knew this was coming as of about five minutes ago, but we've discussed the case and we don't feel that we need to waste the court's time with a trial just because he's been noticed.

We're going to enter a no contest plea today and I guess we need a PSI and put it off for sentencing.

(R 46)

Respondent was then sworn (R 46). The plea colloquy then followed. Appellant was advised of the maximum penalties for his offenses including the enhanced penalties for habitualization:

Q. Do you understand the representation

made by Ms. Swanick that you will enter a plea of no contest to count one of escape from police custody, a second degree felony which carries a maximum sentence of 15 years Florida State Prison as a regular sentence or 30 years Florida State Prison as a habitual felony offender?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. In addition you are charged with one count of obstructing or opposing an officer with violence, charged as a third degree felony carrying a 5 or 10 year Florida State Prison sentence.

A. Yes, ma-am.

Q. There are two misdemeanor charges, a no valid driver's license and alteration of a license plate. Do you understand that.

A. Yes, ma'am.

(R 46-47)

The plea colloquy continued and included a factual basis for the plea (R 47-48). The case was continued for sentencing to May 19, 1995 and a PSI was ordered. (R 48-49).

On April 28, 1996, respondent filed a written motion for a downward departure sentence requesting drug treatment. (R 16-18).

At the sentencing hearing conducted on May 19, 1995, defense counsel again advised the court that respondent had entered, "an open no contest plea to the court," and that the defense had filed a motion for downward departure and was asking that the court not sentence the appellant to prison. (R 53). The defense presented testimony from respondent's brother and sister regarding appel-

lant's abuse of drugs and that they believed that appellant is sincere in his desire to seek drug treatment. (R 54-56). Respondent, himself, apologized to the court and to his family for what happened, and that he realizes that he has no control over drugs. (R 56).

Defense counsel advised the court:

Additionally he from the onset since I met him at arraignment has never indicated that he wanted to fight these charges or waste the court's time. He admitted his guilt from the start, but a focus on he's sick and tired of the life that he has been leading and interested in rehabilitation. (R 57).

The state called Officer D.L. Williams of the Tampa Police Department, Career Criminal Unit. Officer Wilson advised the court that respondent has been targeted as a career criminal, that he surpasses the state requirement of two priors, that he has 9 priors, has preyed not only upon his victims, but on the taxpayers of Tampa, costing an enormous amount of money in investigation, incarceration and supervision in the past. (R 57). Officer Wilson asked that the court impose the highest sentence possible. (R 57).

The State presented a composite exhibit of certified copies of appellant's prior convictions. (R 58, 62-103). These exhibits indicated convictions in July of 1994 for sale of counterfeit controlled substance and obstructing an officer without violence for which appellant received concurrent 10 month sentences (R 95-103); a conviction in September of 1992 of grand theft in the third de-

gree for which he received time served (R 92-94); a conviction in April 1990 for sale of counterfeit controlled substance for which he received a sentence of 3 1/2 years imprisonment (R 88-91); convictions in July 1989 for possession of cocaine, possession of drug paraphernalia, trespass in an unoccupied structure, and obstructing or opposing an officer without violence for which he was sentenced to 30 months on the cocaine charge and to time served on the other offenses (R 81-87); convictions in October of 1988 for robbery and obstructing or opposing an officer without violence for which he was sentenced to 3 ½ years on the robbery and time served on the obstruction charge (R 76-80); convictions in January of 1986 for carrying a concealed firearm, felon in possession of a firearm, and grand theft for which he received concurrent sentences of 1 year and a day (R 67-76); and convictions in June 1979 for possession of cocaine and battery on a law enforcement officer for which he was sentenced to 18 moths on the possession charge and a consecutive sentence of 2 years probation of the battery on a law enforcement officer charge. (R 63-63-66).

The defense suggested that the court give the respondent a suspended sentence on the condition that he complete drug treatment. (R 59).

The court found that because of the respondent's long standing record and the convictions in September of 1992 for grand theft and in July of 1994 for sale of a counterfeit controlled substance

which were within the 5 years time period as well as the other convictions contained in the composite exhibit she would sentence the appellant as an habitual felony offender. (R 60).

Respondent was sentenced to 10 years imprisonment as an habitual felony offender concurrent for counts 1 and 2 (Escape from police custody and obstructing an officer with violence) and to time served on the misdemeanor counts 3 and 4. (R 60, 27-34). The sentencing guidelines provided for a sentencing range of 36.3 months to 60.5 months. (R 23).

Respondent took a direct appeal to the Second District Court of Appeals. The Second District found that the state had provided proper written notice of its intent to seek an habitual offender sentence. Thompson v. State, 706 So.2d 1361, at 1362 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). However, the Second District found that the trial court failed to satisfy the second prong of <u>Ashley v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 486, at 490 (Fla. 1993), which the Court stated to be that the trial court "must confirm that the defendant is personally aware of the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization". The Second District cited to this Court's explanation of "possibility and consequences of habitualization" in footnote 8 of <u>Ashley</u>, *Id.*, wherein it was stated:

> The defendant should be told of his or her eligibility for habitualization, the maximum habitual offender term for the charged offense, the fact that habitualization may effect the possibility of early release through certain programs, and, where habitual

felony offender provisions are implicated, the mandatory minimum term. (Emphasis added)

The Second District found that the trial court's plea colloquy deficient was because the respondent was not told that habitualization might effect the possibilities of early release. Thompson, supra. at 1363. The Second District found that Ashlev, supra., required that the habitual offender sentence be vacated and the case remanded for resentencing. Based upon this Court's reasoning in State v. Wilson, 658 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1995), the Second District held that respondent should be given an opportunity to withdraw his plea. Thompson, supra. at 1363.

The Second District rejected petitioner's challenge to the district court's jurisdiction and refused to certify the question, "In matters involving the trial court's failure to comply with <u>Ashley</u>, 614 So.2d 486, may a defendant file a direct appeal when a judgment is entered on a no contest or guilty plea, or must he first seek collateral review?" as one of great public interest. The Second District did acknowledge conflict with <u>Williams v.</u> <u>State</u>, 691 So.2d 484 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).

This Court has accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should resolve the conflict of appellate decisions by adopting the reasoning of the First District in <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 704 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997), and determine that a defendant who enters a plea of guilty or no contest may not take a direct appeal of an <u>Ashley</u> error regarding the failure of the trial court to ascertain that the defendant was aware of the sentencing consequences of habitualization (especially its effect on a defendant's eligibility for certain early release programs) unless he or she first preserves the issue at the trial level by filing a motion to withdraw the plea.

Moreover, even if this Court should reach the merits of the issue, any failure to advise the respondent that sentencing him as an habitual felony offender could effect his eligibility for certain early release programs was harmless error in this case. Based upon the laws in effect on the date the respondent committed his offenses, the habitual offender statute did not effect his eligibility for any early release programs.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

IN CASES INVOLVING AN ASHLEY VIOLATION (<u>ASHLEY</u> <u>V. STATE</u>, 614 SO.2D 486 (FLA. 1993) REGARDING THE FAILURE TO ADVISE A DEFENDANT ABOUT THE FACT THAT HABITUALIZATION MAY EFFECT HIS POS-SIBILITY FOR EARLY RELEASE THROUGH CERTAIN PROGRAMS, MAY A DEFENDANT FILE A DIRECT WHEN A JUDGMENT IS ENTERED ON A NO CONTEST OR GUILTY PLEA OR MUST HE FIRST SEEK COLLATERAL REVIEW?.

The opinion of the Second District Court of Appeals in <u>Thomp</u> <u>son v. State</u>, 706 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) on this issue conflicts not only with the Fourth District in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 691 So.2d 484 (Fla 4th DCA 1997) but also with the reasoning of the First District in <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 704 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997).¹

In <u>Ashlev v. State</u>, 614 So.2d 486 (Fla. 1993), the defendant, at the time he entered his plea (July 24, 1990), had not been notified that the state intended to seek an habitual offender sentence. Notice was filed 3 days after the plead has been accepted. *Id*. At 487. Additionally, Ashley had not been advised of the possibility or consequences of habitualization at the time he entered his plea; the entire discussion focused on the sentencing guidelines and suggested a forthcoming guidelines sentence. *Id*. 490. Ashley un-

¹This case was cited to the Second District in a notice of supplemental authority which was filed while a motion for clarification/certification of conflict jurisdiction and a question of great public importance was pending before the court.

successfully sought to withdraw his plea on August 29, 1990 and on October 31, 1990, was sentenced to 6 years imprisonment for battery on a law enforcement officer (a third degree felony - 5 year maximum sentence). *Id.* at 487. This Court held that in order for a plea to be voluntary the defendant must understand the consequences of his plea and that this includes the maximum penalty that can be imposed for the offense he has committed. *Id.* at 488. The Court noted that the Fla. R. Crim. Pro. 3.172(c)(1) provides that in determining the voluntariness of a plea, that the trial judge should insure that the defendant understands the "maximum penalty provided by law". *Id.* This Court then stated:

> In sum, we hold that in order for a defendant to be habitualized following a guilty or nolo plea, the following must take place prior to the acceptance of the plea: 10 The defendant must be given written notice of intent to habitualize, and 20 the court must confirm that the defendant is personally aware of the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization.

Id. at 490.

This Court, in explaining what the trial court should do to confirm the defendant's awareness of the consequences of habitualization, stated in <u>Ashley</u>, *Id*. at 490, footnote 8:

The defendant should be told of his or her eligibility for habitualization, the maximum habitual offender term for the charged offense, the fact that habitualization may effect the possibility of early release through certain programs, and, where habitual felony offender provisions are implicated, the mandatory minimum term. (Emphasis added) Ashley, Id., is legally and factually distinguishable from the present case. It is legally distinguishable due to the fact that in the Ashley the defendant had attempted to withdraw his plea, Ashley, Id. at 487. In the instant case, respondent never attempted to withdraw his plea. It is factually distinguishable, because in the instant case, respondent was given notice of the state's intent to seek an habitual offender sentence before the plea was tendered. (R 46). Unlike Ashley where there was no discussion at the time the plea was entered as to the consequences of habitualization, in the instant case, the respondent was advised by the trial court of his maximum penalties as a habitual offender. (R 47).

In <u>State v. Wilson</u>, 658 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1995), the defendant entered an open plea. The plea form was not joined in by the state and at the plea colloquy all parties understood that the state was seeking habitualization. *Id.* At 523. This Court noted that although the first prong of <u>Ashley</u>, *supra.*, was satisfied - the court confirmed that the defendant was aware of the possibility of habitualization - the court failed to confirm that the defendant knew the maximum habitual offender term for the charged offense and *that he could be ineligible for certain programs affecting early release. Id.* at 522, (Emphasis added). This Court determined that the proper remedy was to remand and to give the defendant an opportunity to withdraw his plea and proceed to trial, but that if the

defendant decided to again enter a plea, the trial court could sentence him under the guidelines or impose an habitual offender sentence if the requirements of s. 775.084 and <u>Ashley</u>, *supra.*, are met. <u>Wilson</u>, *supra*. at 523.

The instant case differs from <u>Wilson</u>, *supra.*, because in the instant case, respondent was advised of the state's intent to seek an habitual offender sentence and also of the maximum penalty for his offenses if these were habitualized. The only thing respondent was not advised of was that habitualization could make him ineligible for certain early release programs.

In neither <u>Ashley</u>, *supra.*, nor <u>Wilson</u>, *supra.*, did this Court consider the argument raised by the petitioner in the instant case, to wit: whether an <u>Ashley</u> error can be raised on direct appeal from a judgment and sentence based upon a no contest or guilty plea. To the contrary, this Court went right to the merits of the issue and considered whether the errors in question made the plea involuntary.

However, the Second District, in rejecting petitioner's jurisdiction argument, acknowledged conflict with the Fourth District in <u>Williams v. State</u>, 691 So.2d 484 . In <u>Williams</u>, *Id.* at 485, the Fourth District in an <u>en banc</u> decision held:

> Even in matters involving alleged Ashley violations, a defendant is precluded from bringing a direct appeal when judgment has been entered on a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. A defendant may not appeal from a judgment entered on his guilty plea or from a

judgment "entered on a plea of nolo contendere without an express reservation of the right of appeal from a prior order of the lower tribunal, identifying with particularity the point of law being reserved. Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(b).

In the instant case, since appellant has not expressly reserved the right to direct appeal, he may obtain review only by collateral attack. S. 924.06(3); see Robinson v. State, 373 So.2d 898, 901-902 (Fla. 1979); Norman v. State, 634 So.2d 212, 213 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

The decision of the Second District is also in direct and express conflict with the reasoning of the First District in <u>Rhodes</u> <u>v. State</u>, 704 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998). The Fourth District distinguished between the first prong of <u>Ashley</u>, *supra*. -notice of the state's intent to habitualize- and the second prong -that the defendant is personally aware of the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization, which includes the fact that he may be ineligible for certain early release programs. As the Fourth District explained:

> A failure to comply with either of the Ashley requirements could invalidate a habitual offender sentence based upon a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, but the two requirements are actually quite different. The state's failure to give notice of its intention to seek an enhanced sentence under the habitual offender statute violates the express requirements of the habitual offender statute and deprives the defendant of the fundamental right of due process of law. A defendant cannot be expected to plead guilty or nolo contendere to a criminal offense only to find out later that the penalty could be double that which had been discussed at the time of the

plea, and that the procedure would require involuntary participation in a separate evidentiary proceeding at the time of sentencing. As explained in Ashley, this kind of error results in a "purely legal sentencing issue." The court reasoned that the defendant should be resentenced without any enhancement under the habitual offender sentence.

In contrast, a failure to advise the defendant of the consequences of habitualization affects only validity of the plea. If a defendant has notice of the state's intent to seek habitualization but is simply unaware of certain legal consequences such as the loss of gain time, the error can be corrected by vacating the plea. In this situation, the defendant can withdraw the plea with the permission of the court and decide once again whether to offer to plead guilty or nolo contendere in the face of the state's notice of intent to seek an enhanced penalty.

A challenge to the validity of a plea may not be asserted for the first time on direct appeal. As the supreme court explained in *Robinson v. State*, 373 So.2d 898 (Fla. 1979), a defendant may challenge the voluntariness of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere on direct appeal only if the issue had been previously raised in the trial court. The court squarely rejected the notion that a defendant can challenge the validity of the plea for the first time on direct appeal:

The appellant contends that he has the right to a general review of the plea by an appellate court to be certain that he was made aware of all the consequences of his plea and appraised of all the attendant constitutional rights waived. In effect, he is asserting a right to review without a specific assertion of wrongdo-We reject this theory of an autoing. matic review from a guilty plea... Furthermore, we find that an appeal from a guilty plea should never be a substitute for a motion to withdraw a plea. If the record raises issues concerning the voluntary or intelligent character of the plea, that issue should first be presented to the trial court in accordance with the law and standards pertaining to a motion to withdraw a plea.

Robinson at 902. Based on these principles, we have held that a claim that a defendant was not informed of consequences the of habitualization cannot be presented for the first time on direct appeal unless the defendant has preserved the issue for review by filing a timely motion to withdraw the plea in the trial court. Heately v. State, 636 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994): Perkins v. State, 647 So.2d 202 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994).

<u>Rhodes</u>, supra. at 1081-1082 (Emphasis added).

The First District in <u>Rhodes</u>, *supra*., found that this Court's decision in <u>Wilson</u>, *supra*., did not modify the existing preservation of error argument:

> The defendant suggests that we reconsider this line of cases in light of the supreme court's decision in State v. Wilson, 658 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1995), but that decision does not modify the existing preservation of error requirement. The issue settled in Wilson was the proper remedy for an Ashley violation, not the requirements for preserving such a claim for direct review. It does not appear to us that the supreme court intended to receded from its holding in Robinson that a defendant may not challenge the voluntariness of a plea of guilty on direct appeal unless the issue has been preserved for review by a motion to withdraw the plea. This principle of law has been widely accepted for many years, and even after Wilson it was incorporated in the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. See Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(b)(2)(B)(iii).

<u>Rhodes</u>, *Id*. at 1082.



Petitioner submits that this Court should adopt the reasoning of the Fourth District in <u>Williams</u>, *supra.*, and the First District in <u>Rhodes</u>, *supra*.

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