WOOA

# FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 6 1998

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

vs.

:

Case No. 92,254

WILLIAM THOMPSON,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

V DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

# TOPICAL

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts Petitioner's Statement of the Case and Facts.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the present case the trial court failed to advise Mr. Thompson of the full consequences of his plea to a possible habitualized sentence when it failed to inform Mr. Thompson that habitualization may affect the possibility of early release. There is also the additional factor that Mr. Thompson was not told that the State wished to habitualize his sentence until about five minutes before the plea. The trial court erred in accepting Mr. Thompson's plea; this issue is apparent on the face of the record so that it can be raised for the first time on appeal, and Mr. Thompson is entitled to either be sentenced pursuant to guidelines without regard to habitualization or is entitled to withdraw his plea.

This case is not moot because there are two problems with the plea -- lack of proper notice of intent to habitualize, as well as failure to inform of the <u>possible</u> affects of habitualization on early release. In addition, there are factors out there (such as controlled release being reinstated) that could affect Mr. Thompson's habitualized sentence even if such a factor has no present affect on the sentence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### <u>ISSUE</u>

# WAS THE PLEA VOLUNTARILY ENTERED IN THIS CASE?

At the plea hearing the trial court asked if Mr. Thompson understood that he was facing up to 30 years on one count and 10 years on another count as a habitual offender. (V1/R46,47) Nowhere during this open plea of nolo contendere does the trial court ask Mr. Thompson if he is also aware of the fact that habitualization may affect the possibility of early release. This failure was a fatal flaw in accepting the plea, and Mr. Thompson should be allowed to withdraw his plea.

In Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486 at 490 (Fla. 1993), this Court held ". . . that in order for a defendant to be habitualized following a guilty or nolo plea, the following must take place prior to acceptance of the plea: 1) The defendant must be given written notice of intent to habitualize, and 2) the court must confirm that the defendant is personally aware of the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization." In a footnote, "reasonable consequences of habitualization" are defined as the maximum habitual offender term for the offense, the fact that habitualization may affect the possibilities of early release through certain programs, and if habitual violent felony offender provisions are at issue then the minimum mandatory term. Id. Ashley goes on to note that the defendant's failure to object in the case was not a bar to raising this issue. No contemporaneous

objection is required to preserve a purely legal sentencing issue. "The requirement of rule 3.172 and section 775.084 concerning preplea notice of habitualization is clearly a legal matter, involving no factual determination." <u>Id</u>. Significantly, this Court noted that Ashley did not seek to withdraw his plea in this appeal but wanted a guidelines sentence imposed. This Court reversed for a guidelines sentence on a departure sentence inasmuch as that was consistent with the terms under which Ashley's plea was proffered and accepted. Id. at 491.

More recently in State v. Wilson, 658 So. 2d 521 at 522 (Fla. 1995), this Court re-emphasized the language in Ashley defining "reasonable consequences of habitualization" to include both the maximum habitual offender term for the offense and the fact that habitualization may affect the possibility of early release through certain programs. In Wilson, the State provided the written notice of intent to habitualize before the plea was accepted, thereby meeting the first requirement of Ashley; however, the trial court's failure to confirm that the defendant was aware of the possibilities of habitualization -- i.e., the maximum habitual offender term and the possibility of not being eligible for certain programs affecting early release -- made the plea involuntary. The defendant was allowed to withdraw his plea. Significantly, Wilson involved raising this Ashley issue for the first time on the direct appeal. Wilson had not filed a motion to withdraw his plea, but this Court held that Wilson was not entitled to be resentenced within the terms of Wilson's plea. This Court ordered that Wilson be allowed to withdraw his plea due to the invalidity of the plea.

The State claims the dictates of <u>Ashley</u> and <u>Wilson</u> should not be applied to Mr. Thompson's case for several reasons, but all of these reasons fail:

- (1) The State tries to claim that Ashley is factually distinguishable because Ashley attempted to withdraw his plea at the trial court level and Mr. Thompson did not attempt to withdraw his plea. What the State fails to mention is that at the appellate level Ashley did not want to withdraw his plea but wanted his plea agreement enforced. Ashley got what he wanted -- this Court did not set aside the plea agreement and ordered that Ashley be sentenced without habitualization. It is also to be noted that Wilson did not try to withdraw his plea and argued that he be sentenced without regard to habitualization. Although this Court did not give Wilson the same remedy as Ashley, it did allow Wilson to withdraw his plea.
- distinguishable because Ashley was not given any notice of habitualization prior to entering his plea and Wilson was given notice of habitualization but not told any of the consequences of habitualization. The State is trying to fracture this Court's holding in Ashley and Wilson into small pieces. Both Ashley and Wilson require two basic elements prior to the acceptance of the plea -- defendant given written notice of intent to habitualize and the trial court must confirm that the defendant is personally aware of

the possibility and reasonable consequences of habitualization. Reasonable consequences of habitualization is then defined as maximum habitual offender terms for the offense, the fact that habitualization may affect the possibilities of early release through certain programs, and minimum mandatory terms if habitual violent felony offender provisions are at issue. It is readily apparent from Wilson that three basic things are required when a defendant is entering a plea and is facing a non-violent habitualized sentence: prior notice of habitualization, the maximum habitualized sentence, and that habitualization may affect the possibility of early release through certain programs. If any of these three are missing, the plea was not knowingly and voluntarily entered. Horton v. State, 646 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), the First District held that giving the defendant prior notice of habitualization and the maximum habitualized sentences was good enough. Language about how habitualization may affect early release was only considered "aspirational," but failure to advise a defendant that habitualization may affect early release did not render the plea involuntary. After this Court issued Wilson, the First District was forced to reverse its decision in Horton based on "exceptional circumstances and where reliance on the previous decision would result in manifest injustice." Horton v. State, 682 So. 2d 647 at 648 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), citing from <u>Preston v.</u> State, 444 So. 2d 939 at 942 (Fla. 1984). Horton was then allowed to withdraw his plea because he was not told the effect habitualization would have on his gain time. Thus, the State's argument

that complying with <u>some</u> of the <u>Ashley</u> requirements is "good enough" has been answered in <u>Wilson</u> with a resounding "no." The ultimate decision in <u>Horton</u> clearly points out that telling a defendant <u>all</u> the possible consequences of habitualization is required in <u>Wilson</u>, not just some of the consequences.

(3) The State argues that the jurisdictional aspect of raising such an attack on the habitualized sentence for the first time on appeal was not considered by this Court in either Ashley or Wilson. This argument assumes that jurisdiction was not raised or even considered by this Court. Jurisdiction, of course, is an issue that can be addressed at any time, and this Court could have considered it sua sponte. See Martin Electronics, Inc. v. Glombowski, 705 So. 2d 26 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); Polk v. Sofka, 702 So. 2d 1243 (Fla. 1997). When this Court decided Wilson, it had before it the Fourth District's decision in Wilson v. State, 645 So. 2d 1042 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994); and that decision discusses jurisdiction of raising the issue without having first tried to withdraw the plea on the trial court level. Id. at 1045, fn. 3. Thus, the issue of whether or not a motion to withdraw the plea must be filed before the habitualized sentence could be raised on appeal was there for all to see. It is also to be noted the neither Ashley nor Wilson wanted to withdraw their pleas but wanted a non-habitualized sentence enforced pursuant to their plea agreements. Ashley won this relief and Wilson did not. However, neither Ashley nor Wilson wanted to withdraw their pleas. If a defendant does not want to withdraw his plea, then it makes no sense to require a defendant to

file a motion to withdraw the plea before the habitualized sentence can be raised on appeal. Inasmuch as the failure to properly inform the defendant as to the consequences of the habitualized sentence when a plea is taken is obvious on the face of the record and, pursuant to <u>Ashley</u>, no contemporaneous objection is required to preserve this purely legal sentencing issue, such an issue can be raised for the first time on appeal.

The State cites to two District Court cases that have recently decided that an <u>Ashley</u> issue must first be raised in the trial court -- <u>Williams v. State</u>, 691 So. 2d 484 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997); and <u>Rhodes v. State</u>, 704 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). The Fourth acknowledged in <u>Williams</u> that prior decisions that court had issued had entertained on a direct appeal an <u>Ashley</u> issue and that it was receding from those cases. Neither case addresses the issue of what if the defendant doesn't want to withdraw his plea, and both cases rely on <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 373 So. 2d 898 (Fla. 1979). Respondent has already addressed the issue of a motion to withdraw plea not being the proper remedy in all <u>Ashley</u> issues, so the application of <u>Robinson</u> will now be addressed.

Rhodes claims that this Court held in Robinson that a defendant cannot challenge the validity of a plea for the first time on direct appeal. However, Robinson points out that an appeal from a guilty plea should never be a substitute for a motion to withdraw a plea and issues concerning the voluntary or intelligent character of the plea should first be presented to the trial court in a motion to withdraw the plea. Robinson does not prohibit such

direct appeals, but only states they "should" be presented to the trial court first. Robinson does not state that issues on the voluntary/knowing nature of the plea must be presented to the trial court first. Robinson involved a defendant who entered a guilty plea and had his appeal dismissed on the district court level because it was frivolous. This Court held that when a defendant pleads guilty, his appeal issues are limited to only the following:

- (1) the subject matter jurisdiction,
- (2) the illegality of the sentence,
- (3) the failure of the government to abide by the plea agreement, and
- (4) the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea.

Robinson, 373 So. 2d at 902. The last area does not state or include that the voluntary and intelligent character of the plea can only be raised if a motion to withdraw the plea is filed first. And, although Robinson says an issue concerning the character of the plea should first be presented to the trial court, this Court went on to examine the entire record and found there was no error in the presentation and acceptance of the defendant's negotiated plea. Thus, this Court had the jurisdiction to review the face of the record for issues which occurred contemporaneously with the entry of the plea; and finding no grounds for appeal, held that dismissing the appeal was justified. Dismissing the appeal, however, was only a proper remedy after the record was examined for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In January 1997, Appellant Rule of Procedure 9.140(b)(2)-(B)(iii) was amended to add this language to an attack on a plea. This addition should not apply to Mr. Thompson's case where the defect occurred in 1995 and was immediately attacked in the direct appeal. This addition should also reinforce the concept that such an act was **not** required before January 1997.

issues in the limited four areas. This Court also said "the failure of a defendant to raise the issue of the validity of the plea by an appeal does not prohibit him from subsequently seeking collateral relief if the issues have not been previously addressed and ruled upon." Robinson, 373 So. 2d at 903. This statement implies that a defendant can raise the validity of the plea on appeal. The bottom line is that Robinson did not hold that a challenge to the voluntariness of a plea must be first raised at the trial level and that an appellate court has no jurisdiction to consider such an issue on the direct appeal. By examining the record and the plea, this Court found it had jurisdiction to consider such an issue; and when it came upon the Ashley issue several years later, it discovered an attack on a plea that was evident on the face of the record, required no contemporaneous objection, and did not require the withdrawal of the plea as the appropriate remedy but the enforcement of the plea. Ashley and Wilson do not conflict with Robinson but are in accord with its basic principles.

The State's claim that the plea was only defective in one minor aspect that must be attacked on the trial court level first is further diminished by the fact that Mr. Thompson was not given proper notice that he was facing a habitualized sentence. Although the Second District found the failure to give notice of habitualization to Mr. Thompson prior to the plea hearing (notice was given at the plea hearing) to be harmless error because neither Mr. Thompson nor his attorney objected and the record does not show

that defense counsel was unprepared to deal with the State's request for habitualization, this analysis was erroneous.

Massey v. State, 609 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1991), dealt with a defendant who was given oral notice at trial that the state wished to have the defendant sentenced as an habitual offender. Sentencing was more than 3 months later, and the defendant complained he had not been given written notice. Because the defendant had been put on notice of the State's intent to seek habitualization and had the opportunity to prepare for the hearing, the error to provide written notice was deemed harmless. There are two important things to note about Massey -- the defendant had a trial and did not plead, and the burden was on the State to affirmatively prove no harm had resulted to the defendant as a result of the technical error.

In <u>Ashley</u>, 614 So. 2d at 490, this Court quoted approvingly from <u>Inmon v. State</u>, 383 So. 2d 1103 at 1104 (Fla. 2d DCA), rev. den., 389 So. 2d 1111 (Fla. 1980), when it found that the requirements of §775.084(3)(b), Fla. Stat. (1987), as to giving notice of intent to habitualize meant that "the State shall serve notice on the defendant either before he enters a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, <u>or</u>, in the event he enters a plea of not guilty and submits to trial, prior to the imposition of sentence." In <u>Massey</u> the defendant had gone to trial, so he had to have notice prior to sentencing. He received oral notice more than 3 months prior to sentencing. In plea situations, however, the notice requirement is different -- the notice is required prior to the plea hearing. In

only a few minutes before Mr. Thompson was to enter his plea. Under §775.084(3)(b), Fla. Stat. (1993), which requires "a sufficient time prior to the entry of a plea" for the notice of intent to seek habitualization, Mr. Thompson was not given sufficient time prior to the entry of his nolo plea in which to be put on notice of habitualization and all of its consequences.

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